2011·WC-D1086 T

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Joseph Dewayne Johnson v. Sysco Food Services and New Hampshire Ins. Co.,

2011-WC-01086-SCT

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons and entities as described in the fourth sentence of Rule 28(a)(1) have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the judges of this court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Joseph Dewayne Johnson

Appellant

Appellees

Sysco Food Services New Hampshire Ins. Co.

Carlos E. Moore

Tangala L. Hollis Jeff Skelton Virginia Wilson Mounger Liles Williams, Chairman John Junkin Debra Gibbs Attorneys for the Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Issue 1

Whether 2011 Mississippi Laws Chapter 389, which amended Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51, now providing that appeals of final awards of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission shall be made directly to the Supreme Court of Mississippi, is constitutional under Mississippi Constitution Article 6, § 146.

II. Issue 2

Whether the Supreme Court of Mississippi has appellate jurisdiction over a direct appeal from the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a workers' compensation case on appeal from the Order of the Full Commission, which erroneously affirmed the Order of Administrative Law Judge, Virginia Wilson Mounger, who found, in error, that Claimant/Appellant Joseph Johnson (Claimant) failed to prove the existence of a work related injury, and the medical evidence presented, failed to demonstrate a causal nexus between Claimant's alleged work injury and his current condition/complaints.

On or about March 14, 2008, Claimant was working as a delivery truck operator for Employer Sysco Food Services (Employer). While in the scope of his employment, Claimant was delivering groceries to a restaurant. During said delivery, while Claimant was rolling groceries from the back of the truck, he suffered injuries to his knees. As a result of the foregoing, Claimant filed a Petition to Controvert on or about August 12, 2008. Employer/Carrier filed their Answer to said Petition, denying Claimant's claim, on or about August 19, 2008.

A Hearing on Compensability was held September 10, 2010 at the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, located in Jackson, Mississippi. Subsequent to said hearing, Administrative Law Judge Virginia Wilson Mounger, dismissed Claimant's claim, holding that the "medical proof was insufficient to cement a causal connection between Claimant's current status and/or condition" relative to Claimant's knees.

Claimant subsequently appealed Judge Mounger's decision to the Full Commission, which affirmed Judge Wilson's holding, via an Order dated July 1, 2011. In response, Claimant filed a Notice of Appeal of the Full Commission's decision with the Hinds County Circuit Court on or about July 6, 2011. However, 2011 Mississippi Laws

Chapter 389, providing that appeals of final awards of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission shall be made directly to the Supreme Court of Mississippi, became effective July 1, 2011. Therefore, Claimant filed a Notice of Appeal to this Honorable Court on or about July 14, 2011. As a result, an Order was issued from this Honorable Court for the parties in the instant matter to submit briefs addressing the following issues:

- Whether 2011 Mississippi Laws Chapter 389, which amended Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51, now providing that appeals of final awards of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission shall be made directly to the Supreme Court of Mississippi, is constitutional under Mississippi Constitution Article 6, § 146; and
- 2. Whether the Supreme Court of Mississippi has appellate jurisdiction over a direct appeal from the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission.

Pursuant to the Order of this Honorable Court, said issues will be addressed herein.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

2011 Mississippi Laws Chapter 389, which amended Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51, now providing that appeals of final awards of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission shall be made directly to the Supreme Court of Mississippi, is constitutional under Mississippi Constitution Article 6, § 146. Said law does not improperly encroach upon the judicial powers of the Supreme Court of Mississippi, as the constitutionality of laws passed by the legislature is *prima facie* presumed. *Natchez & S. R. Co. v. Crawford*, 99 Miss. 697 (Miss. 1911). Additionally, this Honorable Court has appellate jurisdiction over direct appeals from the final decisions of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, as this Honorable Court has long since expanded its appellate jurisdiction, and the statute at issue is merely a result of that expansion. All other previous holdings in contradiction to this expansion should be overturned, specifically the holding in *Illinois Cent. R. Co. v. Dodd*, 61 So. 743 (Miss. 1913).

The holding in *Illinois Cent. R. Co. v. Dodd*, 61 So. 743 (Miss. 1913) should be overturned, in order to find that the Mississippi Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction of the rulings of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, pursuant to 2011 Mississippi Laws Chapter 389. In *Dodd*, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that its revisory jurisdiction includes only judicial decisions rendered by a tribunal clothed with judicial power. *Id.* at 743. However, in 1979, the Mississippi Supreme Court the authority to discipline and remove judges (§ 177-A of the Mississippi Constitution), which is not an ordinary exercise of appellate jurisdiction. In 1984, § 146 of the Mississippi Constitution, was amended to add public-utility-rate appeals. It is only logical that the

amendment of § 146 in 1984 be construed consistently with the expansion of the Mississippi Supreme Court's Jurisdiction in 1979, with the enactment of § 177-A. *Dodd*, and cases with similar holdings, should be overturned in order to remain consistent with the expansion of this Honorable Court's appellate jurisdiction, which was arguably the intent of the § 177-A of the Mississippi Constitution, providing this Honorable Court with the authority to discipline and remove judges, pre-dating the 1984 amendment to §146 of the Mississippi Constitution.

ARGUMENT

The standard of review for the constitutionality of Mississippi statutes is de novo. *Thoms v. Thoms*, 928 So.2d 852 (Miss. 2006). The question of whether a statute is violative of the Constitution is one of much delicacy, and which the court should approach with great caution and deliberation. *Natchez & S. R. Co. v. Crawford*, 99 Miss. 697 (Miss. 1911).

I. The 2011 Mississippi Laws Chapter 389, which amended Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51, now providing that appeals of final awards of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission shall be made directly to the Supreme Court of Mississippi, is constitutional under Mississippi Constitution Article 6, § 146.

A statute's constitutionality is *prima facie* presumed, because the legislature, in adopting it, is first required to determine its constitutionality. *Id* at 714. The legislature must be deemed to have acted with integrity, and with a just desire to keep within constitutional limitations. *Id*. The legislature is a coordinate branch of the government with the judiciary, invested with high and responsible duties, and legislates under the solemnity of an oath, which they are not supposed to disregard. *Id*. All doubts are resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the statute. *Id*. If there is reasonable doubt of its constitutionality, it must be upheld by the courts. *Id*. In the instant matter, the issue of constitutionality of the amendment to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51 is solely whether it conflicts with Mississippi Constitution Article 6, § 146, providing Supreme Court to have original and appellate jurisdiction as to any appeal directly from an administrative agency charged by law with the responsibility for approval or disapproval of rates sought to be charged the public by any public utility. The amended code section at issue, and Article 6, § 146 of the Mississippi Constitution are provided herein:

ĸ.

i

Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51. Court review of compensation award

The final award of the commission shall be conclusive and binding unless either party to the controversy shall, within thirty (30) days from the date of its filing in the office of the commission and notification to the parties, appeal therefrom to the Supreme Court.

Such appeal may be taken by filing notice of appeal with the commission, whereupon the commission shall under its certificate transmit to the Supreme Court all documents and papers on file in the matter, together with a transcript of the evidence, the findings, and award, which shall thereupon become the record of the cause. Appeals shall be considered only upon the record as made before the commission. The Supreme Court shall always be deemed open for hearing of such appeals. The Supreme Court shall review all questions of law and of fact. If no prejudicial error be found, the matter shall be affirmed and remanded to the commission for enforcement. If prejudicial error be found, the same shall be reversed and the Supreme Court shall enter such judgment or award as the commission should have entered. An appeal from the commission to the Supreme Court shall not act as a supersedeas unless the court shall so direct, and then upon such terms as such court shall direct.

No controversy shall be heard by the commission or an award of compensation made therein while the same matter is pending either before a federal court or in any court in this state.

Any award of compensation made by the Supreme Court shall bear the same interest and penalties as do other judgments awarded in circuit court.

Miss. Const. Ann. Art. 6, § 146 (2011). Jurisdiction of Supreme Court

The Supreme Court shall have such jurisdiction as properly belongs to a court of appeals and shall exercise no jurisdiction on matters other than those specifically provided by this Constitution or by general law. The Legislature may by general law provide for the Supreme Court to have original and appellate jurisdiction as to any appeal directly from an administrative agency charged by law with the responsibility for approval or disapproval of rates sought to be charged the public by any public utility. The Supreme Court shall consider cases and proceedings for modification of public utility rates in an expeditious manner regardless of their position on the court docket. The amendment to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51, is constitutional under Mississippi Constitution Article 6, § 146, as said law does not improperly encroach upon the judicial powers of the Supreme Court of Mississippi. It is presumed constitutional under *Crawford*, and nothing on the face of the amended statute implies that it is unconstitutional; therefore the law must be upheld.

II. The Supreme Court of Mississippi has appellate jurisdiction over a direct appeal from the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission.

Appellate jurisdiction is granted by both the Constitution and the Legislature "by general law." *Miss. Const. art. 6, § 146.* Further, the supreme court has consistently held that a litigant's right to an appeal is statutory and "not based on any inherent common law or constitutional right." *Gill v. Miss. Dep't of Wildlife Conservation,* 574 So. 2d 586, 590 (Miss. 1990); *Fleming v. State,* 553 So. 2d 505, 506 (Miss. 1989) (citing *Jones v. Barnes,* 463 U.S. 745, 751, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 3312-13, 77 L. Ed. 2d 987 (1983)). This Honorable Court has appellate jurisdiction over direct appeals from the final decisions of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, as this Honorable Court has long since expanded its appellate jurisdiction, and the statute at issue is merely a result of that expansion. All other previous holdings in contradiction to this expansion should be overturned, specifically the holding in *Illinois Cent. R. Co. v. Dodd,* 61 So. 743 (Miss. 1913).

The holding in *Illinois Cent. R. Co. v. Dodd*, 61 So. 743 (Miss. 1913) should be overturned, in order to find that the Mississippi Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction of the final rulings of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, pursuant to 2011 Mississippi Laws Chapter 389. In *Dodd*, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that

its revisory jurisdiction includes only judicial decisions rendered by a tribunal clothed with judicial power. *Id.* at 743. However, in 1979, the Mississippi Commission on Judicial Performance was established, providing the Mississippi Supreme Court the authority to discipline and remove judges (§ 177-A of the Mississippi Constitution), which is not an ordinary exercise of appellate jurisdiction. In 1984, § 146 of the Mississippi Constitution, was amended to add public-utility-rate appeals. It is only logical that the amendment of § 146 in 1984 be construed consistently with the expansion of the Mississippi Supreme Court's Jurisdiction in 1979, with the enactment of § 177-A. As the instant issues are of first impression in the state of Mississippi, it is imperative to look to other jurisdictions for guidance, who have addressed this issue (or similar issues). In fact, a number of other states have addressed the issue of directly appealing to the state's highest court, if aggrieved by a final ruling in the workers' compensation case.

In the state of Montana, Mont. Code Anno. § 2-4-701 (2010) provides:

Immediate review of agency action.

A preliminary, procedural, or intermediate agency action or ruling is immediately reviewable if review of the final agency decision would not provide an adequate remedy.

Specifically regarding workers' compensation cases, Mont. Code Ann. § 39-71-2904 (2010) provides:

Direct Appeal to the Supreme Court. Notwithstanding 2-4-701 through 2-4-704, an appeal from a final decision of the workers' compensation judge shall be filed **directly** with the Supreme Court of Montana in the manner provided by law for appeals from the district court in civil cases. (emphasis added).

Mont. Code Ann. § 39-71-2904 grants a right of appeal from a "final" decision of a workers' compensation judge to the Montana Supreme Court. An order refusing to

dismiss a cause is not ordinarily appealable. Bowen v. Super Valu Stores, 229 Mont. 84, (Mont. 1987). Furthermore, in McMahon v. Anaconda Co., 828 P.2d 374 (Mon. 1981), the Montanan Supreme Court held that it was not the fault of the claimant that Mont. Code Ann. § 39-71-2904 provided unclear guidelines for the filing and service of a notice of appeal, and in the absence of express direction from the legislature, justice required the court to hold that the filing of the notice of appeal by the claimant was timely, and that the court was vested with jurisdiction of his appeal. Id. remanded by 208 Mont. 482, 678 (Mont. 1984) In other words, Montana law holds that their supreme court is vested with appellate jurisdiction under their laws, and even if the code addressing appeals to the Montana Supreme Court from workers' compensation cases is vague or unclear, justice requires the Montana Supreme Court be vested with appellate jurisdiction. While Montana law, specifically Mont. Code Ann. § 39-71-2904, addresses direct appeals from workers' compensation judges and necessarily the commission, the legal principle regarding appellate jurisdiction for direct appeals to a state's highest court remains applicable and comparable. The state of Kentucky's rules and procedures regarding direct appeals to the state's highest court is even more analogous to the new law enacted in Mississippi.

In 2003, Workers' Compensation Board decisions were subject to direct review by the Kentucky Court of Appeals without the need for trial court adjudication. *Ky. CR* 76.25(1). Those decisions are subject to review by the Supreme Court of Kentucky, which has held that such review is guaranteed by the Kentucky Constitution and is not discretionary. *Vessels v. Brown-Forman* Distillers Corp., 793 S.W.2d 795, 798 (Ky. 1990)(held it was unconstitutional to prohibit appeals from the workers' compensation

boards to the Kentucky Court of Appeals, or to the Supreme Court of Kentucky). Section 115 of the Kentucky Constitution gives to parties in workers' compensation actions a matter of right to appeal to the Supreme Court via KRS 342.290. The Vessels Court held that KRS 342.290 constitutionally eliminated the circuit court as the court authorized to review opinions, orders and awards of the Workers' Compensation Board. Id. at 798. The court held that the statue "gave the Court of Appeals the same power to review as had been originally given by statute to the circuit court- no more, and no less." Id. Rule 76.25(12) of the Kentucky Rules of Civil Procedure provides, as a matter of right, an appeal by any party aggrieved by a decision of the Workers' Compensation Board to the Court of Appeals. In CR76.25(12), the rule provides that further review may be sought in the Supreme Court of a final decision or final order of the Court of Appeals in a workers' compensation matter in accordance with the rules applicable to motions for discretionary review under CR 76.20. As in Kentucky, the amendment to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51, allowing direct appeals to the Mississippi Supreme Court merely gives the Mississippi Supreme Court "the same power to review as had been originally given to the circuit court- no more, and no less." Furthermore, while the Legislature has the constitutional power to determine our appellate jurisdiction, the Constitution also grants the judiciary the power to establish its own rules of practice and procedure.

Article 6, Section 144, states that the judicial power of the state shall be vested in a Supreme Court and such other courts as are provided for in this Constitution." *Miss. Const. art. 6, § 144.* "The phrase 'judicial power' in Section 144 of the Constitution includes the power to make rules of practice and procedure, not inconsistent with the Constitution, for the efficient disposition of judicial business." *S. Pac. Lumber Co v.* Reynolds, 206 So. 2d 334, 335 (Miss. 1968) (citations omitted). The "fundamental constitutional concept of separation of powers" gives this Court the "inherent power . . . to promulgate procedural rules." Newell v. State, 308 So. 2d 71, 76 (Miss. 1975) (citing Matthews v. State, 288 So. 2d 714, 715 (Miss. 1974); Gulf Coast Drilling & Exploration Co. v. Permenter, 214 So. 2d 601, 603 (Miss. 1968); and S. Pac. Lumber. Co., 206 So. 2d at 335 (Miss. 1968)). The amendment to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51 should be upheld.

CONCLUSION

2011 Mississippi Laws Chapter 389, which amended Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51, now providing that appeals of final awards of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission shall be made directly to the Supreme Court of Mississippi, is constitutional under Mississippi Constitution Article 6, § 146. Under *Crawford*, the constitutionality of Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51, as amended, is *prima facie* presumed, and does not improperly encroach upon the powers of the judiciary.

Further, the holding in *Illinois Cent. R. Co. v. Dodd*, 61 So. 743 (Miss. 1913) should be overturned, in order to find that the Mississippi Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction of the rulings of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, pursuant to the amendment to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-51. This Honorable Court should find that it has appellate jurisdiction over matters appealed from the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, as previous actions by this Honorable Court, specifically, the establishment of the Mississippi Commission on Judicial Performance in 1979, display a trend in expanding the appellate jurisdiction over direct appeals from the Mississippi

Workers' Compensation Commission will only maintain the consistency of said

.noiznsqx5