IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2011-WC-01086-COA

JOSEPH DEWANE JOHNSON

CLAIMANT/APPELLANT

EMPLOYER/APPELLEE

VS.

SYSCO FOOD SERVICES

AND

NEW HAMPSHIRE INSURANCE COMPANY

CARRIER/APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

BRIEF OF APPELLEES, SYSCO FOOD SERVICES AND NEW HAMPSHIRE INSURANCE COMPANY

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

SUBMITTED BY:

JEFF SKELTON PAMELA S. RATLIFF COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH, P.A. P.O. Box 6020 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158 Telephone: (601) 856-7200 Facsimile: (601) 856-7626 Email: jskelton @cctb.com pratliff@cctb.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is a fundamental concept of workers' compensation law that the claimant has the burden of proving the causal connection between his employment and the resulting disabling condition. *Hedge v. Leggett & Platt, Inc.* 641 So. 2d 9, 12-13 (Miss. 1994). "In a workers' compensation case, the claimant bears the burden of proving by a 'fair preponderance of the evidence' each element of the claim. These elements are: (1) an accidental injury, (2) arising out of and in the course of employment, and (3) a causal connection between the injury and the death or claimed disability." *Id.*

This Court has said that "[i]n all but the simple and routine cases . . . it is necessary to establish medical causation by expert testimony." *Calhoun Apparel, Inc. v. Hobson*, 770 So. 2d 539, 542 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing *Cole v. Superior Coach Corp.*, 234 Miss. 287, 291, 106 So. 2d 71, 72 (1958)). While the Workers' Compensation statute is to be liberally construed in favor of compensation, the Court in *Olen Burrage Trucking Co. v. Chandler* said that its commitment to a liberal construction of this State's compensation laws nevertheless did "not allow [the court] to bridge gaps in the failure of the medical testimony or to find causal connections to the employment where none exits." 475 So. 2d 437, 439 (Miss. 1985).

ARGUMENT

I. THE ORDER OF THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION WAS BASED UPON SUBSTANTIAL AND CREDIBLE EVIDENCE AND WAS NEITHER ARBITRARY NOR CAPRICIOUS

A. THE COMMISSION CORRECTLY HELD THAT THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT MEDICAL PROOF TO ESTABLISH A CAUSAL CONNECTION BETWEEN JOHNSON'S KNEE INJURIES AND THE WORKPLACE

Based on the testimony presented at hearing, both lay and medical, the Commission correctly determined that Johnson failed to establish a causal connection between his knee injury and his work at Sysco. Johnson contends that this finding is contrary to the substantial evidence based on the conflicting medical opinions of Dr. Katz, Dr. McCarthy and Dr. Gandy. Johnson is mistaken.

Johnson wishes this Court to believe that the Commission's findings were based on conflicting medical testimony. However, upon closer review of the testimony offered in this matter, the medical testimony of Dr. McCarthy, Dr. Katz and Dr. Gandy are not conflicting. Both Dr. McCarthy and Dr. Gandy testified that meniscal tears, such as the one experienced by Johnson, require some type of twisting injury and are not caused by simply walking up and down an incline or on a flat surface. Likewise, they both agreed that there was no medical evidence to support a finding that Johnson's left knee injury was work-related.

Johnson testified at the hearing that he began experiencing knee pain in February 2008, which he attributed to arthritis. He attempted to treat his symptoms with over-the-counter medications and bilateral knee braces. Johnson first sought medical treatment for right knee pain on March 15, 2008, at CMMC emergency department. Medical records show Johnson complained only of right knee pain and told the emergency department staff that his knee pain began two weeks earlier when he began running again. At no time did Johnson ever advise the hospital personnel that his injury was work-related. In fact, on referral to Dr. Gary McCarthy, Johnson completed a Patient History Form in which he expressly <u>denied</u> that his injury was caused by an accident or was work-related.(R. E 9.)

While Dr. McCarthy testified that Johnson's right knee injury, given the nature of his job, most likely occurred at work, he nevertheless testified that walking up and down an incline or flat surface is not likely to cause a meniscal tear. (R.E.10, Deposition of Dr. McCarthy, pgs.10-11.) According to Dr. McCarthy, a twisting of the knee is required to cause a mensical tear. (R.E. 10, Deposition of Dr. McCarthy, p. 55.) Further, Dr. McCarthy candidly admitted that he was unable to state whether the twisting which caused Johnson's meniscal tear occurred while he was at work, running or was somewhere else. (R.E.10, Deposition of Dr. McCarthy, pgs. 54-56.) Clearly, Dr. McCarthy's testimony does not establish a causal link between Johnson's right knee meniscal tear and his work at Sysco. Based on Dr. McCarthy's testimony, Johnson failed to carry his burden to make a prima facie case that his injury was work-related.

Similarly, it was Dr. Gandy's opinion, based on review of the medical records and examination of Johnson, that Johnson's right knee injury was not work-related. Like Dr. McCarthy, Dr. Gandy testified that a mechanical injury such as a twisting injury, and not simply walking up and down a ramp, is required to cause a meniscal tear. Stated differently, Dr. Gandy's testimony fails to establish a causal relationship between Johnson's knee injury and his work at Sysco. Accordingly, the Commission properly found that the medical evidence failed to support Johnson's claim as work-related.

Finally, even the opinion of Dr. Katz, the board certified physiatrist hired by Claimant, fails

to establish a causal link between Johnson's injury and his employment. Contrary to what Johnson would have the this Court believe, Dr. Katz never actually opined that Johnson's knee injuries were work-related. Rather, Dr. Katz rendered an opinion that "there has been no specific injury to [Johnson's] right or left knee that is documented well in the medical records." (R.E. 14.) We agree. Dr. Katz then states, "[b]ased on the history given by Mr. Johnson he injured his knees in early 2008 at work." (R.E. 14.) Unlike Johnson, we do not read that sentence to state that Dr. Katz is rendering a medical opinion that Johnson's knee injuries occurred at work. Rather, it appears that Dr. Katz is merely reciting Johnson's reported history that his knee injuries occurred at work. Accordingly, Johnson failed to carry his burden to make a prima facie case that his injury was work-related.

B. No Medical Evidence Was Offered to Support Johnson's Current Claim that His Injuries Are the Result of an Aggravation of a Possible Pre-Existing Condition

To recover, a workers' compensation claimant must prove: (1) an accidental injury, (2) which arises from the course and scope of employment, and (3) there must be a causal relationship between the injury and the alleged disability. *Hedge v. Leggett & Platt, Inc.* 641 So. 2d 9, 12-13 (Miss. 1994). The definition of "injury" refers to accidental injury resulting "from an untoward event or events." *Miss. Code Ann.* § 71-3-3(b). An injury is considered accidental whether the injury occurred suddenly, from a single event at a precise time, or whether the injury developed gradually.

Johnson's current claim that his injuries were the result of "aggravation of a possible preexisting condition arthritis in his knees" (Appellant's Brief, p.11) is pure conjecture and totally devoid any medical support or proof. No doctor diagnosed Johnson with right knee arthritis or rendered any medical opinion that his work activities caused an exacerbation of a pre-existing right knee condition or disease. In the current matter, Johnson alleges he began experiencing knee pain sometime in February 2008 which progressively worsened. Johnson testified that on March 14, 2008, while walking down the ramp of his delivery truck, he felt pain in his knees and his knee "locked up on him." The following morning he presented to the emergency department at CMMC with complaints of right knee pain. Johnson, however, failed to mention any left knee pain and informed the emergency department staff that **his right knee pain started two weeks earlier when he began running again.** (R.E. 8.)

Only now does Johnson attempt to allege that his right knee injury was the result of a repetitive use work injury or an exacerbation of pre-existing condition. Not only are these claims not supported by the medical evidence and testimony in this case, they are not supported by the history Johnson initially gave to the medical providers at CMMC

Both Dr. McCarthy and Dr. Gandy agree that meniscal tears, such as the one Johnson experienced, do not occur absent some type of twisting injury and are not caused from simply walking up and down an incline or flat surface. While Dr. McCarthy testified that Johnson's right knee injury could have occurred at work, he candidly agreed that he could not say whether Johnson's injury occurred at work, while running or somewhere else. Neither Dr. McCarthy nor Dr. Gandy offered testimony that Johnson's left knee injury was work-related. In fact, both agreed they were unable to state to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Johnson's left knee injury was job related.

C. THE COMMISSION CORRECTLY APPLIED THE APPLICABLE LAW

Johnson alleges that the facts of his case are analogous to those in Spencer v. Tyson Foods, 869 So. 2d 1069 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (Appellant's Brief, pg.11). We disagree. In Spencer, the claimant, Delores Spencer, a breast puller at Tyson, alleged she suddenly felt pain in her neck, right shoulder, arm and hand while pulling a chicken breast. She claims she immediately informed her supervisor of her medical complaint and was seen that same day by the company nurse. *Id.* at 1071. She subsequently treated with her family physician who opined that her condition resulted from the cumulative effects of repetitive work motions which exacerbated her underlying condition, cervical spondylosis. *Id.* Ms. Spencer was referred to a neurologist who similarly opined that while it was impossible to know the primary cause of the claimant's injury, there was no question work activities could exacerbate her pre-existing spondylosis. *Id.* at 1072.

Unlike *Spencer*, Johnson allegedly developed knee pain sometime in February 2008 but failed to seek medical treatment until March 15, 2008. Also, unlike the claimant in *Spencer*, Johnson did not immediately report the alleged injury to his employer. Rather, Johnson waited until May 9, 2008, months later, to report the alleged work-related injury. When Johnson sought medical attention for his knee pain, not only did he tell healthcare providers that his knee injury occurred two weeks earlier after he resumed running, but also he expressly denied the alleged injury was work-related. Finally, and perhaps more compelling, is the lack of medical expert opinion testimony causally linking Johnson's knee injuries to the workplace. Unlike *Spencer*, in the current matter no doctor has opined that Johnson's condition resulted from the cumulative effects of repetitive work motions which exacerbated an underlying condition. In fact, neither Dr. McCarthy, Dr. Gandy nor Dr. Katz ever diagnosed Johnson with right knee arthritis or rendered an opinion that his work activities caused an exacerbation of a pre-existing right knee condition or disease.

II. The Order of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission is Supported by the Substantial Weight of Evidence

Johnson has the burden to prove that he sustained an accidental injury, which arose from the course and scope of employment, and the existence of a causal relationship between the injury and the alleged disability. *Hedge v. Leggett & Platt, Inc.* 641 So. 2d 9, 12-13 (Miss. 1994). While we agree the workers' compensation statute is to be liberally construed in favor of compensation, our Supreme Court in *Olen Burrage Trucking Co. v. Chandler* made it clear that its commitment to a liberal construction of this State's compensation laws nevertheless did "not allow [the court] to bridge gaps in the failure of the medical testimony or to find causal connections to the employment where none exits." 475 So. 2d 437, 439 (Miss. 1985).

Johnson failed to prove through credible medical evidence and testimony that his knee injuries were work-related. As Johnson did not meet his burden to demonstrate a compensable claim, the finding by the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission that Johnson's knee injuries were not compensable was proper and based on substantial evidence. The Commission's finding is further supported by the totality of the evidence presented at hearing, including medical opinion testimony.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Order of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission should be affirmed. Johnson failed to present credible medical evidence supporting a causal connection between his employment as a delivery driver for Sysco and the injuries he sustained to his knees. Accordingly, the finding by the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission that Johnson's knee injuries were not compensable was proper and based on substantial

-16-

evidence and is neither arbitrary nor capricious.